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The National Mentoring Partnership has 52 ideas for activities mentors can do with youth mentees/protegés in

face-to-face situations (one for every week of a year). Using those suggestions as a guide, and with additional input

from the NMP staff and many online volunteers , the Virtual Volunteering Project has identified these 63 online

activities for online mentors and protegés to do together via e-mail and the web.

This list was compiled with the understanding that the focus of a mentoring program is being a supportive, caring

friend, not necessarily tutoring, training or helping with homework (although these activities may occur as part of

mentoring). A primary focus of an online mentoring program is creating a meaningful, trusting relationship

between the mentor and the protegé. Given this, we stayed away as much as possible from classroom/curriculum-

specific activities in this list (classroom or tutoring resources are plentiful online, and can be found easily via your

favorite search engine or online directory).

These suggestions were also compiled with a focus on adult mentors working with youth, primarily fourth to

twelth grade, but the activities could certainly be adapted to adult age groups, and to programs where youth

mentor youth and adults mentor adults online.

https://www.energizeinc.com/
http://everyoneready.training/
https://www.energizeinc.com/resources-for-volunteer-engagement
https://www.energizeinc.com/a-z
https://www.energizeinc.com/a-z2
https://www.energizeinc.com/a-z/article-internal/11751
https://www.energizeinc.com/a-z/article-internal/11747
http://web.archive.org/web/20021218020153/http://www.mentoring.org/
http://web.archive.org/web/20021218020153/http://www.serviceleader.org/vv/vols01.html
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 Note that not all of these activities are appropriate for every youth age group. Quality mentoring programs, on or

offline, provide information about the age group the mentors are working with and suggestions for appropriate

topics to explore. Also, not all of these activities would be appropriate for every online mentoring program;

consider what your organization hopes participants will achieve when deciding which online activities are best.

These suggestions are to help keep conversations flowing, but should be used as guidelines, not as the only things

to talk about online. Also, DON'T try to do lots of activities at once, or ask several questions in just one e-mail.

Many of these activities may each take several e-mails back and forth to fully explore.

Finally, mentors should remember to share as much information as they are asking for, to do the same online

activities listed below that protegés are doing, and to use these suggestions to sometimes switch roles -- let the

protegé guide the mentor!

Suggested E-mail and Web Browsing Activities

1. Talk about why you got involved in this online mentoring program, what you are looking forward to, what

makes you nervous about it, what you hope to get out of it, and what you hope to give as part of it.

2. Refer to what you know about each other already, per what the supervising program has told you about each

other (most programs have a profile that you each fill out, answering various questions, and these profiles

are then shared between mentors and protegés before they meet online). Note what you have in common,

and what you would like to hear more about the other.

3. Talk about your favorite movies/celebrities/performers/historical figures/heroes/sports figures or teams,

etc., why you like them and what you learn from them.

4. Talk about a book you are reading and why you like it, or don't like it.

5. Talk about your favorite foods to eat, and your favorite foods to cook (and how to cook them!). Try out each

others' recipes and discuss how they worked out.

6. Share information and details of things that might be unique to your particular culture or geographic area

(clothing, ceremonies, music, traditions, food, etc.).

7. Share your favorite uses of the Internet, and the Web sites and online discussion groups you find most

helpful or entertaining. Visit each other's favorite web sites and offer your own opinion about them.
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8. Visit the United Nations Cyberschoolbus.  This interactive web site promotes education about international

issues for both students at all grade levels and for teachers.  The site provides lots of ideas for online

collaborative activities.

9. Talk about your favorite uses of computers and software (including games) you find the most helpful or

entertaining. If you discover that you both play the same computer games, talk about which "levels" you've

attained, tips/hints you've found helpful, etc.

10. Seek out and share Web sites you think your mentor or protegé would enjoy, based on what you know about

him or her.

11. Talk about your pets. Talk about animals that particularly intrigue you and why. 

12. Share positive stories about your family.

13. Share stories about family conflicts/difficulties and how they were resolved -- or how you wish they had

been resolved.

14. Both of you take a fun online personality "test" together, such as What Breed of Dog are You , and talk about

your results, if you were surprised by what your "test" results were, how they compare to each other, etc.

15. Discuss your favorite and least favorite classes, teachers, etc. and why (protegés -- current classes and

teachers; mentors -- past classes and teachers)

16. Talk about when you have volunteered to help another person or an organization (a church, a school, a cause

you believe in, etc.). Why did you do it? How did the person or organization benefit from your service? How

did YOU benefit from your service? What kinds of volunteering would you like to do?

17. Mentors: talk about your job, how you trained for it, what you do at your job, if it is different than what you

planned on doing when you were in grade school, other jobs you've had, including jobs you had as a teenager,

and what you learned from them, etc.

18. Discuss career options. You can both take "Career Pathways" Evaluation and the Survey by Online Psych ,

and talk about your results.

19. Protegés: talk about homework you have recently been assigned or a school activity in which you are

involved; mentors, help protegés find online resources that might help them with their homework or this

activity.

20. Discuss your favorite music and performers.

21. Describe your dream home and the qualities it will have.

22. Describe your dream car and the qualities it will have.

23. Share geneology information, and explore family trees together. Two good resources for this are:


The Genealogy Home Page

http://web.archive.org/web/20021218020153/http://www.un.org/Pubs/CyberSchoolBus/index.html
http://web.archive.org/web/20021218020153/http://www.emode.com/dog/
http://web.archive.org/web/20021218020153/http://www.uidaho.edu/pathways/pathways.htm
http://web.archive.org/web/20021218020153/http://www.allhealth.com/onlinepsych/specials/olpgen/0,6103,7117_128533,00.html
http://web.archive.org/web/20021218020153/http://www.genhomepage.com/
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The Genealogy Links Page

24. Participate in one or two of the many online interactive, educational areas provided by nonprofit groups, and

talk about your experiences in using them, what you learned, what you liked, what you didn't like, etc. An

example:


World Wildlife Fund 





A variety of online activities allowing users to learn about biodiversity and global environmental

health, such as the "What's Your Biodiversity IQ" Quiz, the U.S. Ecoregional Map: "What's in your

backyard?", and "Biodiversity Performs." These plug-ins for these games can take a while to download

to your computer. 

25. Both of you take a tour of the artwork reproduced online from the National Gallery of Art . You can pick a

specific genre/exhibit area, and discuss what you see, what you like, what you don't like, what you don't

understand (mentors, you talk about this too!), etc.   An example:



NGAKids features child-focused stories, activities, & information on the National Gallery's collections.

Visitors can explore the nuances of Jacques-Louis David's famous "Napoleon in His Study," identify colors &

shapes in a Kandinsky abstract painting, or follow Lizzy & Gordon through the Sculpture Garden via an

animated musical tale. The site also links to family-oriented resources, events, and publications for children

of all ages. 

26. Participate in one or two of the many online interactive areas provided by various federal agencies, and talk

about your experiences in using them, what you learned, what you liked, what you didn't like, etc. Some

federally-sponsored sites with online interactive activities include:


National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences Kids' Pages , by the Department of Health and

Human Services

FBI Kids and Youth Educational Page

Federal Emergency Management Agency for Kids

PeaceCorps Kids Allows kids to learn how they can "make a difference", allows them to explore the

world and different cultures, and provides places to interact with others.

NASA for KIDS and For Kids Only: Earth Science Enterprises

United States Environment Protection Agency Explorer's Club

U.S. Patent and Trademark Office's Kids Pages , by the Department of Commerce

Kids Next Door, by the Department of Housing and Urban Development

U.S. Department of Transportation Kids Corner

U.S. Fire Administration Kids Place , by the Federal Emergency Management Agency

http://web.archive.org/web/20021218020153/http://www.historyoftheworld.com/gen/genelnks.htm
http://web.archive.org/web/20021218020153/http://www.worldwildlife.org/fun/kids.cfm
http://web.archive.org/web/20021218020153/http://www.nga.gov/
http://web.archive.org/web/20021218020153/http://www.nga.gov/kids/kids.htm
http://web.archive.org/web/20021218020153/http://www.niehs.nih.gov/kids/home.htm
http://web.archive.org/web/20021218020153/http://www.fbi.gov/kids/kids.htm
http://web.archive.org/web/20021218020153/http://www.fema.gov/kids/
http://web.archive.org/web/20021218020153/http://www.peacecorps.gov/kids/index.html
http://web.archive.org/web/20021218020153/http://www.nasa.gov/kids.html
http://web.archive.org/web/20021218020153/http://kids.earth.nasa.gov/
http://web.archive.org/web/20021218020153/http://www.epa.gov/kids/
http://web.archive.org/web/20021218020153/http://www.uspto.gov/go/kids/
http://web.archive.org/web/20021218020153/http://www.hud.gov/kids/kids.html
http://web.archive.org/web/20021218020153/http://www.faa.gov/education/resource/kidcornr.htm
http://web.archive.org/web/20021218020153/http://www.usfa.fema.gov/kids/
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The Further Adventures of Kid Safety , by the Consumer Product Safety Commission

27. Mentors: talk about difficulties you might have experienced as a teen and how you overcame them.

28. Protegés: talk about difficulties you are facing and how you are dealing with them.

29. Discuss fashion -- clothing and hair styles you like, that you don't like, what's in style now, what used to be in

style, etc.

30. Talk about college -- which college and universities you've heard of or are familiar with, why a young person

should go to college, how to chose a college, how guidance counselors can be helpful in pursuing

scholarships, and so forth. Mentors, if you attended a college or university, talk about how you chose which

classes to take, if you ended up working in the profession you planned on in college, which classes you found

particularly helpful, and so forth.

31. Work on the protegé's resume.

32. Discuss questions that get asked on college applications or in job interviews. Mentors, talk about what it was

like for you when you were trying to get into college or to land your first job.

33. Refer back to previous discussions, or events that the protegé mentioned. "How did that test go?" or "How

was dinner at your aunt's house?" or "How is your baby sister?" 

34. Discuss how to be involved in the U.S. political process. Where would either of you go to register to vote in

your area? What kind of local government does your area have? Have either of you ever met your mayor? A

state elected official? A national official? What was that meeting or event like? If you could say anything to

the President, what would you say?




You can even help your protegé write a letter to a local representative about an issue he or she is concerned

with.  Some sites to help you both explore government and politics and find out who your elected officials

are:


Project Vote Smart

THOMAS: Legislative Information on the Internet

And don't forget to explore your state and local government web sites as well!





 

35. Both of you take a fun test on Online Psych , such as the Personality Colors Test , and discuss your results.

36. Talk about what you do outside of work/school (hobbies, things you collect, how you spent your weekend,

etc.)

37. Talk about the song, book character or movie character that you most identify with. For instance, what song

sums up what your life is like right now, or how you feel right now? Have you read a book recently that hit

http://web.archive.org/web/20021218020153/http://www.cpsc.gov/kids/kidsafety/index.html
http://web.archive.org/web/20021218020153/http://www.vote-smart.org/
http://web.archive.org/web/20021218020153/http://thomas.loc.gov/
http://web.archive.org/web/20021218020153/http://www.allhealth.com/onlinepsych/
http://web.archive.org/web/20021218020153/http://www.allhealth.com/onlinepsych/personality/olpgen/0,6103,7119_127650,00.html
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close to home, that featured people and situations that were similar to those in your own life? Is there a

movie that portrays circumstances you are very familiar with?

38. Share your own original short stories, poetry, song lyrics, artwork or other original materials that are easy to

send and receive via e-mail (within the body of an e-mail or as an attachment).

39. Take a virtual tour of a particular city, outer space -- even a roller coaster! -- and talk about your experiences

via e-mail. We've compiled a list of recommended virtual tours for online mentors and youth to explore.

40. Describe your dream job, however far-fetched it might be, and the qualities it would have. Are there ways to

pursue real jobs that would have some of those qualities, or activities outside of the work place that would

have those qualities?Read a book at the same time, or watch the same TV program, and discuss what you

saw, what you learned, what you enjoyed, and what you didn't.

41. Share what you have faith in, what you believe in, and why.

42. Talk about online ethics. How do young people feel about online filtering software? Hacking? Pretending to

be someone else online? Web sites that don't allow people with disabilities to access them? What's

appropriate and what's not appropriate behavior online? Some resources that can help:


Piracy, Pornography, Plagiarism, Propaganda, Privacy: 


Teaching Children to Be Responsible Users of Technology 


Protects Their Rights and the Rights of Others 





This article has many, many real life examples and links to additional resources.

Why Is Accessibility on the Internet Important?

Celebrate a National holiday together online -- Veteran's Day, Martin Luther King, Jr.'s birthday,

President's Day, Memorial Day, etc. Research together how this holiday came into being, how or if

your family or you, personally, observe this holiday, why you both think this holiday is important or

meaningful, etc.

43. Talk about why a healthy environment and wildlife are important no matter where one lives. Share

information about your geographic area and environmental problems it might be facing (trash, air pollution,

water pollution, deer over population, etc.), how it affects you and your family, and ways you might be able to

help improve the environment in your area. Some web sites that can help you both explore environmental

issues:


Audubon Society Education Pages

San Diego Zoo

World Wildlife Fund Kids Section

44. Talk about how to balance work and life.

45. Talk about an adult who has (or had) a positive influence on you, and why.

http://web.archive.org/web/20021218020153/http://www.serviceleader.org/vv/direct/tours.html
http://web.archive.org/web/20021218020153/http://www.computerlearning.org/Articles/Ethics98.htm
http://web.archive.org/web/20021218020153/http://www.computerlearning.org/Articles/Ethics98.htm
http://web.archive.org/web/20021218020153/http://www.computerlearning.org/Articles/Ethics98.htm
http://web.archive.org/web/20021218020153/http://www.knowbility.org/curriculum/intro.html
http://web.archive.org/web/20021218020153/http://www.audubon.org/educate/
http://web.archive.org/web/20021218020153/http://www.sandiegozoo.org/wildideas/kids/
http://web.archive.org/web/20021218020153/http://www.worldwildlife.org/fun/kids.cfm
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46. Talk about peer pressure (mentors, remember that adults experience peer pressure too!!).

47. Both of you take the Kiersey Temperament Test and discuss what the results were for you each.

48. Talk about the future. What are you most hopeful about for the future? What are you most scared of? What

can you do to make a better future for yourself?

49. Come up with new activities for this list! Review the list together and talk about other suggestions, based on

your experiences together.

Suggested Advanced Activities

These are activities to try after you've gotten to know each other a little better, using the aforementioned, more

simple activities. These are also great learning experiences for both mentor and protegé, for one to teach the

other, or to learn together.

CAUTION: some of these suggestions require mentors and protegés to have the same kind of software, specialized

software or hardware that requires a great deal of memory, or for users to register personal information on a web

site (real name, real e-mail address, postal mailing address, birthday, etc.). Some require mentors and protegés to

communicated via a third party web site. Not all mentoring programs will find these practices acceptable .

Mentors should ALWAYS check with the coordinator of the program before engaging in these activities with a

protegé, and program coordinators should make sure that engaging in any of these activities won't violate or

compromise a program's security and safety measures:

1. Exchange pictures of each other, of your families and friends, and of places you've been.

2. Create a web site together. It can be something related to school work or to the mentor's professional work,

a guide to an issue or subject both mentor and protegé share an interest in (the environment, a particular

sports team, etc.), or a web site for a nonprofit or community group you both care about. It could include

links to your favorite web sites on this subject, and artwork, essays and poetry you create yourselves, or

solicit from others.

3. Prepare a biography of the mentor and his or her experience during the Depression, World War II, the

Korean or Vietnam Wars, the Civil Rights movement, and other major U.S. and world events in his or her

lifetime. This biography could be turned into a web site and shared with others.

4. Write a song together. One or both of you could work on the lyrics, another could work on the music and

make a recording of the resulting product via computer recording software and send it to the other (yes, that

means either the mentor or the protegé is going to have to sing, unless either of you is savvy enough to have

a computer-generated voice sing it for you!).

http://web.archive.org/web/20021218020153/http://keirsey.com/cgi-bin/keirsey/kcs.cgi
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5. Joint doodling and artwork creation. Many programs can read .gif, .jpeg or .pict files, so it doesn't matter

what kind of computers mentors and protegés are using.

6. Have the protegé give a "virtual tour" of his or her community -- provide URLs for the school he or she

attends (if available), the local paper, community groups the protegé is interested in or considers particularly

active, etc. The mentor can then comment about what he or she learned about the area, and then do the

same for his or her own area -- either where he or she lives now, or where he or she grew up.

7. Create an online movie together, such as with Flash or Shockwave technology. Apple Computers has Flash

movie files ready to download , and Web Teacher has lots of "how to" information and many helpful hints for

creating online movies using various different formats.

For an example of how Flash and Shockwave technology can be used, visit Poems that Go . The site offers

new sets of poems each quarter, all of which use Flash or Shockwave in their presentation. This site also

provides links to essays about the aesthetics of new media and poetry and to related projects.





 

8. Keep a journal on a regular basis (perhaps weekly) in which you discuss what you've done and your feelings

about what's happened at school, at your job, as part of a recreational activity, etc. Send the journals to one

another and talk about the events and feelings expressed in each.

9. "Go together" to an online webcast concert, class, press conference or interview on a chatroom that features

a special guest (such as a sports figure or celebrity or politician). Talk about the online event afterwards

together via e-mail.

10. Play an online game together. For instance, Yahoo has clubs that allow free multi-user gaming, including

simple games like checkers. You can even work on a crossword puzzle together online -- some are

downloadable javascript files that you can pass back and forth. pogo.com has many free online games that

users play using a web browser, like backgammon, chess, card games (hearts, spades, euchre, etc.) and more.

11. Using online travel and tourist sites for country and cultural information, create a "dream" itinerary for a trip

around the world, a trip across country, etc. Discuss where you would go and what you would do on such a

trip, what kinds of foods you would eat, what new customs you might encounter, the languages you would

hear, dress styles you might discover, etc.

12. Use "virtual" (pretend) money to invest together in the stock market and learn about how it works. Sites like

the Stockbrokers.com Investment Challenge allow users a set amount of "virtual" money to "invest" as part

of a contest with other users. These sites provide research, statistics, updates, and other information used

by actual investors to make investment decisions.

SPECIAL THANKS


To the Virtual Volunteering Project's own online volunteers, who made many of these suggestions, based on their

own experiences as teenagers, adults, mentors and protegés.

http://web.archive.org/web/20021218020153/http://www.apple.com/quicktime/download/index.html
http://web.archive.org/web/20021218020153/http://www.webteacher.org/macnet/movies/movies.html
http://web.archive.org/web/20021218020153/http://www.poemsthatgo.com/
http://web.archive.org/web/20021218020153/http://www.yahoo.com/
http://web.archive.org/web/20021218020153/http://www.pogo.com/
http://web.archive.org/web/20021218020153/http://www.investorfactory.com/stockbrokers/
http://web.archive.org/web/20021218020153/http://www.serviceleader.org/vv/volsY2K.html
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Permission is granted to download and reprint this material. Reprints must include all citations and the

statement: "Found in the Energize online library at http://www.energizeinc.com/a-z"
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